### IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 01-472

FRANK POER, ROBE	RT ANDERSON,
STANLEY CORCELL,	and ARTHUR CARRATT,
Petitioners.	

-VS-

CALDER RACE COURSE, INC.,

Respondent.	

On Discretionary Review of the District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida, Third District Court of Appeal DCA Case No. 3D 00-524

Edward R. Curtis, Esq. Curtis & Curtis, P.A. Post Office Box 21607 Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33335 Telephone: (954) 525-6652 Bruce Botsford, Esq. Bruce Botsford, P.A. 3531 Griffin Road Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33312 Telephone: (954) 374-1420 Facsimile: (954) 525-6656

Facsimile: (954) 374-1422 **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioners Frank Poer, Robert Anderson, Stanley Corcell and Arthur Carratt were the plaintiffs in the trial court and the appellants on appeal. The Petitioners are collectively referred to herein as the "Plaintiffs." The Defendant, Calder Race Course,

Inc. is referred to herein as "Calder" or, alternatively, the "Defendant."

#### I. Nature of the Case:

This is an employment discrimination case wherein the Plaintiffs allege they were discriminated against on the basis of their age in violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992, Fl.Stat. §760.01 *et seq*. The nature of the discrimination is the Defendant's failure to rehire the Plaintiffs after numerous years of continued employment on the basis of their age.

#### **II.** Restatement of the Facts:

Calder is a pari-mutuel race track that is open to the public on a seasonal basis. (R. 150-66 at ¶2). Hiring is done on a season to season basis and each employee is required to formally apply for a position at the beginning of the racing season and an employee is hired only for the current season. (R. 150-66 at ¶3). Many of the personnel hired seasonally by Calder also typically work at other race tracks, such as Hialeah and Gulfstream during their racing seasons. (R. 150-66 at ¶3).

In May 1996, Calder accepted applications for its money room divisions for the 1996-97 racing season. (R. 150-66 at ¶20). Each Plaintiff applied for the position of division head. (R. 150-66 at ¶20). In previous years, there had been nine division heads; however, due to a restructuring, four of the division head positions had been eliminated. (R. 150-66 at ¶17). The Plaintiffs were not hired for the five remaining division head positions. (R. 150-66 at ¶20).

Of the 9 division heads considered for the position, the Plaintiffs were by far the oldest. Robert Anderson was 74, Arthur Carratt was 70, Frank Poer was 68, and

Stanley Corcell was 67. (R. 166). The five hired were Betty Comegys, age 61, John Gantz, age 57, Bill Doolen, age 56, Tom Barrett, age 54, and David Levy, age 54. (R. 166). In addition to the age disparity, respective Plaintiffs also rated higher in seniority and qualifications then those rehired.

Robert Anderson had worked as a division head since Calder first opened in 1970 (R. 166), working all but one of Calder's money rooms in that time (Anderson Depo., p. 96) and was recognized in the preceding year for his 25 years of continued employment with Calder. (Anderson Depo., pp. 87-88). Mr. Anderson was trained and previously acted in the capacity of head cashier, a more skilled position. (Anderson Depo., pp. 28-30). Mr. Anderson had also personally participated in the training of several of the individuals who were hired over him for the 1996-97 season. (Anderson Depo., pp. 97-100). Of all those considered for the division head positions, Robert Anderson held the highest seniority. (R. 166).

Arthur Carratt had worked as a division head since 1974. (R. 166). Mr. Carratt had worked in all of Calder's money rooms throughout his career (Carratt Depo., p. 82) and had also participated in the training of several individuals who were hired over him. (Carratt Depo., pp. 84-85). During the preceding year, Mr. Carratt had been recognized as the "Mutuel Employee of the Week", an honor bestowed by Patrick Mahoney, the individual charged with not rehiring him. (Mahoney Depo., pp. 23-24). Of all those considered for the division head positions, Arthur Carratt held the second highest seniority. (R. 166).

Frank Poer and Stanley Corcell were also long time employees of Calder. (R.

166). Mr. Poer had worked for Calder since 1970 (Poer Depo., p. 16) and, like Mr. Anderson, had been recognized for his 25 years of service to Calder in the preceding year. In 1982, Mr. Poer became a division head and of the candidates considered for the division head position, Mr. Poer held the sixth highest seniority. (R. 166). Mr. Poer had been recognized in the preceding year as the "Mutuel Employee of the Week." (R. 186-93). Both Mr. Poer and Mr. Corcell had worked as division heads in different money rooms (Poer Depo. pp. 23-25) and both possessed the necessary skills and qualifications for the division head position. (Poer Depo., pp. 21-27).

While the Plaintiffs had higher seniority, skill levels and qualifications, they were not hired as division heads for the 1996-97 season. Instead, they were given conditional offers of employment for a newly created (but lesser) mini-dealer position. Each Plaintiff would ultimately refuse continued employment as a mini-dealer.

The hiring decision as to which five candidates would be hired for the division head positions was made by Patrick Mahoney, Ed Mackie and John Gantz. (Mahoney Depo., pp. 37-39). Over the preceding years, Mr. Gantz made repeated statements that the Plaintiffs were receiving Social Security and should retire as that the "younger guys" would have opportunities. (Carratt Depo., pp. 85-86; Corcell Depo., pp. 89-90). Mr. Mahoney supplemented these discriminatory comments by stating to Mr. Carratt, when he was informed he would not be rehired, that Mr. Carratt was receiving Social Security benefits. (Carratt Depo., pp. 85-86).

When Mr. Carratt and Mr. Corcell when informed that they were not being hired for the five positions, Mr. Mahoney represented to both of these Plaintiffs (who did

not have knowledge of the offer to the other) that the Bill Doolen division head position was about to become open and they would get that position. (Carratt Depo., p. 83; Corcell Depo., p. 58). This turned out to be false. When the position became available, it was awarded to Raymond Loretto, age 44. (Mahoney Depo., p. 54; R. 166). Mr. Loretto had less seniority, skills and qualifications than any of the Plaintiffs. Calder has claimed Mr. Loretto had a division head seniority date of 1989 (R. 166); however, by Mr. Loretto's own deposition testimony he did not become a division head until the 1996 season. (Loretto Depo., p. 5). In any event, each Plaintiff was more qualified than Mr. Loretto, and yet they were still not offered the position.

#### **III.** Course of Proceedings:

Believing themselves to be victims of age discrimination, each Plaintiff served a Charge of Discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human Relations and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission asserting they were victims of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992, Fl.Stat. §760.01 *et seq.*, and the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, 29 U.S.C. §626(b). The Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) investigated the claims and subsequently issued a Letter of Determination finding reasonable cause to believe Calder discriminated against the Plaintiffs on the basis of their age. (R. 20-31).

On December 18, 1997, the EEOC instituted a lawsuit against Calder in federal court under the ADEA. (R. 121-27) One month later, the Plaintiffs filed a lawsuit in state court asserting their claims under the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992. (R. 4-31). In the state court proceedings, Calder filed a Motion to Abate Proceedings and argued

that the matter should be stayed pending resolution of the EEOC lawsuit. (R. 50-64). The trial court denied the motion. (R. 65). In response, Calder filed a Motion for Reconsideration arguing that the trial court's reliance on the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion in *Andujar v. National Property & Casualty Underwriters*, 659 So.2d 1214 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) was misplaced. (R. 66-71). The trial court again refused to stay the matter. (R. 72).

On March 31, 1999, the federal court entered summary judgment in favor of Calder. (R. 128-49). The EEOC filed a Notice of Appeal of the summary judgment order. (R. 258-59). However, the EEOC subsequently dismissed the appeal without notice to, or the consent of, the Plaintiffs. (R. 174-75; 258-59).

With the EEOC action having been dismissed, Calder then moved for summary judgment in the state court proceedings on the grounds of collateral estoppel. (R. 95-149). The Plaintiffs duly responded. (R. 210-231). After allowing Calder to amend its affirmative defenses, the trial court granted summary judgment on collateral estoppel grounds. (R. 266-68). Final Judgment was entered on January 21, 2000 (R. 269) and this matter proceeded on appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal. (R. 260-65).

On September 20, 2000, the Third District Court of Appeal entered a written order affirming the trial court. (App. 1). The appellate court held that since the Plaintiffs were in privity with the EEOC, the Plaintiffs were collaterally estopped from pursuing their claims in the state court. (App. 1). However, the appellate court's order was erroneous, as the Court applied the incorrect standard for assessing collateral

estoppel and failed to recognize that privity was not the issue on review. In this respect, the Plaintiffs sought rehearing and certification of conflict before the Third District Court of Appeals. (App. 2). On January 31, 2001, the Plaintiffs' requests were summarily denied. (App. 3). The mandate was issued on February 16, 2001 (App. 4) and on February 26, 2001, the Plaintiffs filed their Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court (App. 5). On July 31, 2001, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

With all due respect to the Third District Court of Appeals and the trial court, the issue before the courts was not whether the Plaintiffs were in privity with the EEOC during the federal trial court proceedings. The proper issue is whether that privity was destroyed when the EEOC dismissed its appeal without notice to, or the consent, of the Plaintiffs and whether such actions denied the Plaintiffs a full and fair opportunity to litigate their issues in federal court. As the Plaintiffs were entitled to an appeal "as of right" and the federal summary judgment order was questionable, the EEOC's abandonment of the appeal denied the Plaintiffs a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issues in the federal court proceedings. Accordingly, a requisite element of collateral estoppel could not be established and summary judgment in these proceedings should have been denied.

In addition, there is precedent from the Fourth District Court of Appeals holding that the federal courts are not courts of competent jurisdiction as to issues that would

otherwise arise under the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992. As both the United States Supreme Court and this Court have recognized that collateral estoppel is dependent on the prior proceeding having been determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, collateral estoppel could not attach to these proceedings.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of appellate review of a summary judgment order is de novo and requires viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the non moving party. Volusia County v. Aberdeen at Ormond Beach, L.P., 760 So.2d 126, 130 (Fla. 2000); Sierra v. Shevin, 767 So.2d 524, 525 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL WILL NOT PRECLUDE A STATE DISCRIMINATION LAWSUIT WHERE THE PLAINTIFFS WERE DEPRIVED OF A FULL AND FAIR OPPORTUNITY TO LITIGATE THE ISSUES IN FEDERAL PROCEEDINGS BY VIRTUE OF THE EEOC ABANDONING THE PLAINTIFFS AND DISMISSING THEIR APPEAL.

In seeking summary judgment on its affirmative defense of collateral estoppel, Calder was required to prove four elements: (1) the issue was identical to the one involved in the federal action, (2) the issue was actually litigated in the prior suit, (3) the determination of the issue in the prior litigation was a critical and necessary part of the federal judgment, and (4) the non-moving party had a full and fair opportunity to

litigate the issue in the prior suit. All Pro Sports Camp, Inc. v. Walt Disney Co., 727 So.2d 363, 366 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998); Baxas Howell Mobley, Inc. v. BP Oil Co., 630 So.2d 207, 209 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993). In the present case, the fourth element has never been established.

In order to demonstrate that the Plaintiffs had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issues in the federal proceedings, Calder and the reviewing courts have consistently relied upon the singular proposition that the Plaintiffs and the EEOC were in privity in the federal action. As a general proposition, the Plaintiffs recognize that privity between the EEOC and the aggrieved parties may arise in EEOC enforcement actions under the ADEA. *See*, Equal Employment Opportunity Comm'n v. United States Steel Corp., 921 F.2d 489, 494-95 (3d Cir. 1990); Equal Employment Opportunity Comm'n v. Harris Chernin, Inc., 10 F.3d 1286, 1289-90 (7th Cir. 1993). However, Calder's interpretation of ADEA case law that the EEOC and the employees it represents in ADEA claims are in privity "as a matter of law" is fundamentally incorrect. The courts do not reach such absolute distinctions as the interests of the EEOC and private litigants "are not necessarily compatible" and "are not always identical." Riddle v. Cerro Wire & Cable Group, Inc., 902 F.2d 918, 922-23 (11th Cir. 1990).

In this context, the Plaintiffs have never disputed they were in privity with the EEOC in the federal trial court proceedings. Such privity, however, vanished when the EEOC decided to unceremoniously abandon and dismiss an otherwise meritorious appeal of the summary judgment order without either counseling or giving prior notice

to the Plaintiffs. The EEOC's actions had the unfortunate consequence of foreclosing appellate review of the summary judgment order. As such, the issue is not one of privity as privity was destroyed when the EEOC abandoned the Plaintiffs and left them without any meaningful rights in the federal proceedings.

The proper issue therefore is whether a party who has been deprived of his right to appeal has had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issues in the prior proceeding. In this respect, federal and Florida law are equally clear that the right to appeal is an absolute and necessary right of each litigant. Under federal law, every litigant in the federal court system may take an appeal "as of right" from all final decisions of the district court. 28 U.S.C. §1291; Fed.R.App.P. 3. Under Florida law, "[t]he right to take an appeal has been said to be an absolute right." Johnson v. James H. Price & Co., 235 So.2d 763, 765 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970). The right to appeal is deemed absolute for a simple reason: "[a] court that has jurisdiction to rule correctly also has jurisdiction to make a mistake." Hunter v. Hunter, 359 So.2d 500, 502 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978).

As such, it is well-established that where a party has been deprived of his right to appeal, that party has <u>not</u> received a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issues. <u>Standefer v. United States</u>, 447 U.S. 10, 23, 100 S.Ct. 1999, 2007 (1980); RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF JUDGMENTS §28(1) (1982).<sup>1</sup> The United States Supreme

See also, <u>Gray v. Lacke</u>, 885 F.2d 399, 406 (7th Cir.), *cert. denied*, 494 U.S. 1029, 110 S.Ct. 1476 (1990) ("a 'full and fair opportunity to litigate' includes the right to appeal an adverse decision"); <u>Lombardi v. City of El Cajon</u>, 117 F.3d 1117, 1122 (9th Cir. 1997) ("there is an exception to collateral estoppel where the party against whom preclusion is sought could not, as a matter of law, have obtained review of the judgment in the initial action"); <u>United States v. Salerno</u>, 81 F.3d 1453, 1464 (9th Cir.), *cert. denied*, 519 U.S. 982, 117 S.Ct. 436 (1996) ("The inability of a party to appeal from an

Court has explained the rationale for this rule:

This is not to suggest that the availability of appellate review is always an essential predicate of estoppel. The estoppel doctrine, however, is premised upon an underlying confidence that the result achieved in the initial litigation was substantially correct. In the absence of appellate review, or of similar procedures, such confidence is often unwarranted.

Standefer, 447 U.S. at 23, 100 S.Ct. at 2007 n.18. In the present case, no such confidence can attach to the federal proceedings. When the EEOC dismissed its appeal without prior notice or counsel, the Plaintiffs were deprived of their guaranteed rights. *Cf.*, Gentile v. Bauder, 718 So.2d 781 (Fla. 1998) (collateral estoppel would not apply where "petitioner had no control over how the case would be prosecuted or if and how an adverse decision would be appealed"). Of importance, the federal summary judgment order was questionable as there was an overabundance of evidence demonstrating Calder's proffered reasons for not hiring the Plaintiffs was merely a pretext. *See infra*, Argument II. Under such circumstances, it cannot reasonably be disputed that the extinguishment of the Plaintiffs rights in the federal appellate process also extinguished their opportunity to fully and fairly litigate the issues in the federal court proceedings.

Accordingly, the trial court and the Third District Court of Appeals erred in determining that the Plaintiffs were collaterally estopped from prosecuting the subject lawsuit as Calder was incapable of proving an essential element of its affirmative defense. As such, the summary judgment should be reversed.

adverse determination in the prior proceeding is a major factor to be considered").

11

# II. THE PLAINTIFFS ESTABLISHED A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF AGE DISCRIMINATION AND DEMONSTRATED THAT DEFENDANT'S ALLEGED NON-DISCRIMINATORY REASON FOR NOT HIRING THEM WAS MERELY A PRETEXT.

In granting summary judgment on collateral estoppel, the state trial court never reached the merits of Plaintiffs' claims. (R. 218). Instead, the trial court relied on the privity distinction and held that "should the appellate court decide the doctrine of collateral estoppel was not properly applied in this case, the Court believes that the appellate court may review the issues raised in Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on the merits." (R. 218). This notwithstanding, the record evidence demonstrated that summary judgment was improper on the merits of the Plaintiffs' claims.

In a discrimination case based on circumstantial evidence, the courts apply the three-step burden shifting analysis established by the United States Supreme Court in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S.Ct. 1817 (1973). Under this analysis, the plaintiff must first establish a prima facie case. Combs v. Plantation Patterns, 106 F.3d 1519, 1527-28 (11th Cir. 1997). Once the plaintiff establishes the requisite elements, unlawful discrimination is presumed. Id. at 1528. The defendant then has the opportunity to rebut this presumption by articulating a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for the employment action. Id. If the defendant produces such a reason, then the initial presumption is eliminated and the plaintiff then must offer evidence discrediting the defendant's proffered explanations for its employment decision. Id.

#### A. Prima Facie Case:

In a failure to hire case, the elements of a prima facie case of age discrimination are: (1) the plaintiff was a member of a protected class, (ii) the plaintiff applied and was qualified for a job for which the employer was seeking applicants, (iii) the plaintiff was rejected despite his qualifications, and (iv) after his rejection, the position remained open and the employer continued to seek applicants. <u>Isenbergh v. Knight-Ridder Newspaper Sales, Inc.</u>, 97 F.3d 436, 439 (11th Cir. 1996).

Whether the Plaintiffs satisfied the first three elements has never appeared to be in dispute. (R. 95-149, 210-31). On the fourth element, whether the division head position remained open at the commencement of the 1996-97 season, the record evidence was that (i) there were five division head positions available, (ii) Calder accepted applications for these positions, and (iii) Calder filled these positions with five other individuals. (Mahoney Depo. pp. 35-39). With respect to the secondary position filled by Mr. Loretto, the record evidence demonstrated that (i) there was one division head position available, (ii) Calder accepted applications for this position, and (iii) Calder filled this position with Mr. Loretto.

Accordingly, while a plaintiff's burden in proving a prima facie case is minimal, <u>Isenbergh</u>, 97 F.3d at 439, the Plaintiffs more than amply established a prima facie failure to hire case.

#### B. <u>Calder's Alleged Legitimate, Non-Discriminatory Reason</u>:

Calder's Motion for Summary Judgment never specifically identifies the alleged reasoning behind its failure to hire the Plaintiffs for the open division head positions. (R. 95-149). The Plaintiffs assume that the alleged reason was the decision to close

the money rooms on economic grounds. However, this alleged reason has little application to a failure to hire case, as it was undisputed there were five division head positions available.<sup>2</sup>

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