## IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

## **CASE NO. SC01-472**

# FRANK POER, ROBERT ANDERSON, STANLEY CORCELL and ARTHUR CARRATT,

Petitioners

vs.

#### CALDER RACE COURSE, INC.,

Respondent

On Discretionary Review of a Decision of the Florida District Court of Appeal, Third District

Lower Tribunal Case No. 3D00-524

## ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, CALDER RACE COURSE, INC.,

ISICOFF & RAGATZ, P.A. Eric D. Isicoff Teresa Ragatz 1101 Brickell Avenue Suite 800 South Tower Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone (305) 373-3232

Attorneys for Respondent, Calder Race Course, Inc.

#

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

#### 2. The issues were actually litigated in the prior suit.

A review of the summary judgment order entered by the district court, a copy of which is attached to Calder's summary judgment motion as Exhibit B [R.I-128-149], demonstrates that the issue of Calder's legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for the adverse employment action and the issue of pretext were actually litigated in that action. After a review of all of the evidence in the record - - the identical record that exists in this case - - and after hearing oral argument on the summary judgment motion, in pertinent part, the district court held: [T]he Court finds as a matter of law that the Defendant offered legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for its decision not to rehire Anderson, Poer, and Carratt as division heads. . . . [T]he Defendant has articulated a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for replacing Corcell. [T]he Plaintiff has failed to show that the reasons articulated by the Defendant were pretextual . . .

[R.I-145, 147-148]. The second prong of the collateral estoppel test clearly is met here.

### **3.** The determination of the issue was a necessary and critical part of the prior judgment.

As set forth above, the respective burdens of the parties and the analysis of age discrimination claims brought are identical whether a plaintiff is proceeding under the ADEA or under the Florida Civil Rights Act. As the Eleventh Circuit has admonished, once a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for the employment action at issue has been articulated, "[t]o survive summary judgment, the plaintiff must then present concrete evidence in the form of specific facts which show the defendant's proffered reason is mere pretext . . . [m]ere conclusory allegations and assertions will not suffice." *Earley*, 907 F.2d at 1081. Where the defendant's justification evidence completely overcomes any inference from the evidence submitted by the plaintiff, the district court may properly acknowledge that fact and award summary judgment to the defendant." *Young v. General Foods Corp.*, 840 F.2d 825, 828 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1988), *cert. denied*, 488 U.S. 1004 (1989). Thus, as the district court's order demonstrates, the

determination of the factual issues relating to business justification and pretext was a necessary and critical part of the district court's judgment in favor of Calder in the Federal Action.

### 4. The party against whom the issue is asserted had a full and fair opportunity to litigate in the prior action.

Collateral estoppel may be asserted "when the identical issue has been litigated between the same parties *or their privies.*" *Stogniew v. McQueen*, 656 So.2d 917, 919 (Fla. 1995) (*quoting Trucking Employees of North Jersey Welfare Fund, Inc. v. Romano,* 450 So.2d 843, 845 (Fla. 1984)) (emphasis added). "For one to be in privity with one who is a party to a lawsuit or for one to have been virtually represented by one who is a party to a lawsuit, one must have an interest in the action such that [he] will be bound by the final judgment as if [he] were a party." *Stogniew,* 656 So.2d at 920. "A person may be bound by a judgment even though not a party if one of the parties to the suit is so closely aligned with his interests as to be his *virtual representative*." *Id. (quoting Aerojet-General Corp. v. Askew,* 511 F.2d 710, 719 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 908 (1975)).

The law is clear that, in age discrimination cases, the EEOC, as a matter of law, is in privity with the alleged victims of age discrimination on whose behalf it brings suit. As the Third Circuit explained, in holding that the EEOC and the employees it represents in an ADEA case are in privity as a matter of law: The distinctive enforcement scheme of the ADEA shows unmistakenly that *the EEOC has representative responsibilities when it initiates litigation to enforce an employee's rights*. Although the ADEA expressly authorizes aggrieved individuals to bring civil actions for legal and equitable relief, the Act provides that "the right of any person to bring such actions shall terminate upon the commencement of an action by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission to enforce the right of such employee under [the Act]."

EEOC v. United States Steel Corporation, 921 F.2d 489, 494 (3d Cir. 1990). The

Third Circuit explained that, in regard to the privity issue, the ADEA is somewhat

unique:

Congress would not have crafted this enforcement scheme - - on the one hand, creating an individual cause of action and, on the other, cutting off the individual's right to sue once the EEOC begins its action - - unless *Congress intended for the EEOC to serve as the individual's representative when it seeks to enforce that individual's rights*. If Congress did not believe that the individual's claim would be adequately pressed by the EEOC, it would surely have preserved the individual's right to bring suit either during or after the EEOC suit. Thus, the *conclusion that the EEOC is the individual's representative in ADEA suits, like the one before us here, seems inescapable.* (Emphasis added).

Id. at 494-95. The Seventh Circuit has agreed with the Third Circuit's position that,

in ADEA cases, "there is privity between the EEOC and individuals for whom it seeks

individual benefits." EEOC v. Harris Chernin, Inc., 10 F.3d 1286, 1291 (7th Cir.

1993). See also EEOC v. North Gibson School Corporation, 2001 WL 1083949 \*4

(7<sup>th</sup> Cir., Sept. 11, 2001) (under "the distinctive enforcement scheme of the ADEA,

which places the EEOC in privity with the individual for whom it seeks relief . . . the

EEOC steps into the shoes of the individual").<sup>3</sup>

In the Federal Action, a copy of which complaint is attached to Calder's summary judgment motion as Exhibit A [R.I-121-126], the EEOC specifically sought back pay as well as reinstatement and/or front pay for Messrs. Poer, Carratt, Corcell and Anderson - - the same relief that Petitioners sought below. The EEOC thoroughly and vigorously litigated on behalf of Petitioners in the Federal Action (and the lower court so found [R.II-267]), taking numerous depositions and engaging in substantial written discovery. Petitioners engaged in virtually no discovery below - - they did not take a single deposition and relied, instead, on the substantial work performed on their behalf and the record developed by the EEOC in the Federal Action. As a matter of law, Petitioners were in privity with the EEOC in the Federal Action and now are bound by the determination of those issues which actually were litigated in the Federal Action.

Petitioners herein concede that they were in privity with the EEOC in the Federal Action and that they had a full and fair opportunity to litigate up through entry of final

3

Petitioners cite Riddle v. Cerro Wire & Cable Group, Inc., 902 F.2d 918 (11th

Cir. 1990), for the proposition that, in ADEA cases, the EEOC and the private litigant are not always in privity as their interests may not be identical or compatible. In *Riddle*, however, the first case was brought by the EEOC pursuant to Title VII and not under the distinctive enforcement scheme of the ADEA where it is recognized that the EEOC, as a matter of law, is in privity with the private litigant on whose behalf it files suit. *Riddle* is, thus, completely inapposite.

judgment in favor of Calder. They argue, however, that the EEOC's dismissal of the appeal it filed from that judgment somehow operates to render improper the application of collateral estoppel. Petitioners' contention is contrary to well established legal principles. Clearly, because Petitioners, admittedly, were in privity with the EEOC in the federal proceedings, the EEOC's decision to dismiss the appeal it initially filed was tantamount to the decision having been made by the Petitioners themselves. There was no error in the federal court decision and the EEOC obviously made the determination that pursuing the appeal made no economic sense. Nevertheless, contrary to Petitioners' contention, that decision to dismiss the appeal had absolutely no effect on the application of collateral estoppel by the lower court nor should it have changed the outcome below. It is the federal law of collateral estoppel that applies here and, under federal law, "appeal rights generally do not affect the applicability of collateral estoppel." In re Billy Clem Rae, 1992 WL 372398 \*1 (Bankr. D.C. 1992). Rather, it is well established in the federal courts that "a final judgment in the trial court may have collateral estoppel effect even though the loser has not exhausted his appellate remedies." Pharmacia & Uphohn Company v. Mylan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 170 F.3d 1373, 1381 (Fed. Cir. 1999) (quoting, Williams v. Commissioner, 1 F.3d 502, 504 (7th Cir. 1993). In short, "the bare act of taking an appeal is no more effective to defeat preclusion than a failure to appeal." 18 Wright,

Miller & Cooper, *Federal Practice and Procedure*: Jurisdiction § 4433 (2000). *See also United States v. Munsingwear, Inc.,* 340 U.S. 36, 39 (1950 ("the judgment in the first suit would be binding in the subsequent ones if an appeal, though available, was not taken or perfected"); *Angel v. Bullington,* 330 U.S. 183, 189 (1947) ("[i]f a litigant chooses not to assert his rights after an intermediate tribunal has decided against him, he has concluded his litigation as effectively as though he had proceeded through the highest tribunal available to him"); *Myers v. Bull,* 599 F.2d 863, 865 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir.), *cert. denied,* 444 U.S. 901 (1979) ("failure to appeal the previous decision does not affect the conclusive effect of that judgment"). The cases Petitioners cite in their motion for rehearing for the proposition that there can be no full and fair opportunity to litigate where a party has been deprived of his right to appeal are completely inapposite.<sup>4</sup> In

4

This Court's decision in *Gentile v. Bauder*, 718 So.2d 781 (Fla. 1998), does not support the position asserted by Petitioners. In that case, the doctrine of issue preclusion was found to have been improperly applied because the petitioner was not a party to, nor was she in privity with a party to, the prior suit and, in addition, the issue presented in the second suit was not identical to that determined in the first suit. Here, in contrast, Petitioners were in privity with the EEOC and the issues determined in the Federal Action were identical to those presented in the case below. The Seventh Circuit decision in *Gray v. Lacke*, 885 F.2d 399, 406 (7h Cir.), *cert. denied*, 494 U.S. 1029 (1990), stands for the proposition that collateral estoppel is not properly applied where a party has no right to appeal in the first suit. Here, of course, the EEOC, on behalf of Petitioners, had the right to appeal and did so, although it later made the strategic decision to dismiss that appeal. In *Standefer v. United States*, 447 U.S. 10 (1980), a criminal case, the United States Supreme Court recognized the applicability of the doctrine of collateral estoppel in civil cases such as the one at bar. However,

short, Petitioners clearly had a full and fair opportunity to litigate in the Federal Action and, thus, were properly precluded from relitigating issues litigated in and determined by that tribunal.

### 5. The federal district court was a court of competent jurisdiction to determine the issue of Calder's business justification.

In their Initial Brief, Petitioners also argue that the elements of collateral estoppel

are not met because the federal district court is not a court of "competent jurisdiction"

because the government, due to procedural, discovery and evidentiary bars *unique to* the criminal case, is often without the kind of full and fair opportunity to litigate that is a prerequisite of estoppel, the Court noted that criminal cases present considerations very different from those of civil cases with respect to application of the doctrine of collateral estoppel. In United States v. Salemo, 81 F.3d 1453 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 982 (1996), the court held that the doctrine of collateral estoppel was inapplicable, both because the government had no procedural ability to appeal and because the first court had made no ultimate factual determinations to which the doctrine of collateral estoppel could be applied. As in *Standefer*, on which the Ninth Circuit specifically relied, the court was dealing with procedural impediments to the government's full and fair opportunity to litigate that are unique to the criminal context. Again, this case has no application here. Finally, in Lombardi v. Citv of El Cajon, 117 F.3d 1117 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997), the Ninth Circuit held the doctrine of collateral estoppel to be inapplicable, both because the state court ruling was not final and because there is an exception to collateral estoppel under California law when the party, against whom preclusion is sought, could not, as a matter of law, have obtained review of the judgment in the initial action. Here, of course, unlike the situation in Lombardi, Petitioners had the right to appeal from the summary judgment entered against them but, through their representative, the EEOC, they chose not to do so. But more importantly, California law is unlike the federal law of collateral estoppel applicable here. See, e.g., Performance Plus Fund, Ltd. v. Winfield & Co., 443 F.Supp. 1188, 1190 (D. Cal. 1977) ("[u]nder the minority California rule, a trial court judgment pending on appeal is not considered final . . . [t]he federal courts do consider such a judgment final for purposes of res judicata effect"). Accordingly, this case, too, lends no support to Petitioners' position.

for purposes of a Florida Civil Rights Act claim. Petitioners rely, for this proposition, on the Fourth District Court of Appeal case of Andujar v. National Property & Casualty Underwriters, 659 So.2d 1214 (Fla. 4<sup>h</sup> DCA 1995). The doctrine of collateral estoppel is nowhere mentioned in the Andujar case, however. Rather, in Andujar, it was contended that claims asserted under the Florida Civil Rights Act and Title VII were identical for purposes of res judicata (claim preclusion) and the court correctly rejected that contention. Unlike the doctrine of res judicata, which precludes relitigation of the *same claim* between the *same parties*, collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, precludes relitigation of *issues* actually litigated. Hochstadt v. Orange Broadcast, 588 So.2d 51, 53 n.1 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). In Andujar, the Fourth District correctly noted that, while the Florida Civil Rights Act and Title VII claims could not be considered identical for *res judicata* purposes, the same evidence would sustain both of the statutory causes of action. 659 So.2d at 1216.<sup>5</sup>

Here, the evidence in the record is identical to the evidence before the district court in the Federal Action. There can be no doubt that the issues of business

5

There clearly exists no conflict between the outcome in the instant case and that in *Andujar*. While *Andujar* specifically dealt only with the applicability of the federal doctrine of claim preclusion, the initial federal case had been disposed of solely on the ground that it had not been timely filed. Accordingly, unlike this case, no factual issues were litigated and determined by the federal district court that properly could have been the basis for collateral estoppel in the later state case.

justification and pretext - - issues which are dispositive of the instant case - - were actually litigated in the Federal Action for purposes of collateral estoppel. Further, there can be no credible contention that the district court was not competent to determine those issues in the Federal Action. Petitioners' disingenuous reliance on a wholly inapposite claim preclusion case to support their position that the elements of issue preclusion were not met should be rejected out of hand.

#### V. Calder was Entitled to Summary Judgment on the Merits

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